1983

Robert W. Adkins v. The Division of State Lands of The State of Utah : Appellant's Brief

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for a declaratory judgment that a mineral lease appellant entered into with the Division of State Lands is valid and in full force and effect, despite the Division's attempted cancellation of the lease.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After hearing cross-motions for summary judgment, the court held that appellant had not protested the cancellation actions within the time required by 65-1-9(2) Utah Code Annotated 1953, and had failed to comply with the notice, filing of claim, and cost bond provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act (Title 63, Chapter 30, Utah Code Annotated 1953). Respondent's motion for summary judgment was granted, and the action was dismissed with prejudice.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment of the trial court and remand to the trial court for entry of a declaratory judgment to the effect that the lease entered into between appellant and the Division of State Lands is a valid lease, is in full force and effect despite the attempt of the Division of State Lands to cancel it, and that the term of the lease is to be extended for a period equivalent to that needed to litigate the matter.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 10, 1980, Robert W. Adkins applied to the Division of State Lands for an oil, gas, and hydrocarbon lease on the following described property in San Juan County:

Lots 3, 4, 5, and 6, the south half of the northwest quarter, and the south half of Section 2, Township 27 south, Range 20 east, Salt Lake Base and Meridian.

The north half of the southeast quarter of Section 8, Township 27 south, Range 21 east, Salt Lake Base and Meridian.

The application was granted and under date of March 24, 1980, Adkins and the division entered into Lease No. ML37794 (R. 5, 18).

On March 25, 1981, the Division of State Lands sent Adkins a letter telling him that the 509.18 acres in Section 2 had previously been withdrawn from oil and gas leasing, and therefore that property was being deleted from the lease, and he would receive a refund of \$1,020 paid in rentals on the deleted portion (R. 18, 22). On May 19, 1981, Adkins wrote to the Department of Natural Resources protesting the action of its Division of State Lands and requesting a hearing (R. 23).

On August 12, 1981, the Division of State Lands and Forestry sent a letter to Adkins telling him

Please be advised that on August 12, 1981, the Land Board upheld the partial cancellation of the above-numbered lease with respect to T27S, R20E, Section 2: Lots 3, 4, 5, 6, S $\frac{1}{2}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, S $\frac{1}{2}$, thus rejecting your formal appeal.

Also on August 12, 1981, the Division's Minerals Resource Specialist notified Adkins that the land located in Section 8, Township 27 south, Range 21 east, SLM, had also been withdrawn, and that he would recommend to the Director that the lease be cancelled (R. 70). On August 17, 1981, the Director did cancel the lease, without notifying Adkins of the action (R. 71). On October 29, 1981, Adkins wrote to the Division, asking whether the lease had in fact been cancelled, and "pursuant to Section 65-1-9" requested a hearing (R. 25).

On February 26, 1982, the Division of State Lands sent the following notice to Adkins:

This letter will serve as notice that the Land Board, on November 10, 1981, considered your appeal of the Director's action of August 17, 1981, cancelling ML37794 OG&H.

By unanimous vote of the Land Board, the Director's action was upheld.

Prior to the cancellation of the lease, the rentals were paid timely, and subsequent to the cancellation, the rentals were tendered timely by Adkins, but they were not accepted by the Division of State Lands.

Adkins did not file another "protest" with the Division of State Lands or with the Board of State Lands, but on February 13, 1982, notified the Treasurer of the State of Utah that the action of the Board of State Lands would be tested in the court. Adkins did not file with the Attorney General

a notice of his claim that the action of the Division of State Lands was invalid and did not file a claim against the State of Utah. On June 8, 1982, he filed an action in the District Court of Salt Lake County without filing an undertaking for costs.

On June 14, 1966, the State Land Board had purported to withdraw from oil and gas leasing the property in Section 2, Township 27 south, Range 20 east, covered by the lease with Adkins. At that time there was no statute authorizing the State Land Board to withdraw lands from oil and gas leasing. Such authority was given later by Chapter 183, Section 4, Laws of Utah 1967.

On June 8, 1967, after authority had been given, the State Land Board withdrew the 80 acres lying in Section 8 (R. 38).

When the Adkins lease was entered into, the withdrawals were not shown on the plat maps maintained by the division (R. 79).

ARGUMENT

I

PLAINTIFF COMPLIED WITH THE "PROTEST" REQUIREMENTS OF 65-1-9(2) UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953 PRIOR TO FILING THIS ACTION.

The letter from the Division of State Lands dated March 25, 1981, informed Adkins that the land lying in Section 2 was being deleted from the lease. The letter from the Division dated August 12, 1981, was a recommendation to the Director that the lease be cancelled with respect to the 80 acres as well as the "previously deleted portions," and the recommendation was followed by the Director on August 17, 1981. In both instances Adkins protested, and the protests were considered and rejected by the Land Board.

But the court ruled that he had not complied with the statute because he had not protested the Land Board's ruling.

The statute relied upon by the Division and by the district court is 65-1-9(2) Utah Code Annotated 1953:

No claimant for lands under control of the board can appeal for judicial review of a decision of the board involving any sale, lease, or disposition of state lands, or any action relating thereto, unless such claimant files a written protest with respect thereto with the board within 90 days after the final decision of the board relating to such matter; or, with respect to decisions rendered prior to the effective date of this act, within 90 days after such effective date. This provision shall not relate to disputes between the board and any party as to the ownership or title to any lands.

The above section was enacted in 1963, when all of the functions relative to state lands were under jurisdiction of the State Land Board. The Board was responsible for both policy and administration. Of necessity, it performed its functions through subordinates -- its staff. Since it is not uncommon for administrative staffs to make decisions that are, for all intents and purposes, final, it was reasonable to provide for submission of such matters to the Board to make certain that the action was Board action before permitting resort to the courts.

The section is not typical of statutes providing for administrative review. The difference between review and final action by a particular agency is pointed out in 2 Am.Jur.2d, Administrative Law, § 542:

An appeal involves two tribunals, one of which has the power to decide in the first instance and the other to review on appeal a decision so made, and, dependent upon the applicable statutes and the distribution of functions in a particular agency, administrative review procedures may or may not possess the attributes of appeals in judicial proceedings. Even though a statute provides for an "appeal" it has been held that where the purpose of such appeal is only to expedite and facilitate the dispatch of business within the administrative setup and the officer to whom the appeal lies has the power to decide in the first instance and, on his own motion, to

order a redetermination where no appeal is taken, the idea of a real appeal is excluded and although in form an appeal is presented the officer exercises original rather than appellate jurisdiction

Were the decisions to delete Section 2 and to cancel the lease "final decisions" within the meaning of 65-1-9(2)? They certainly had the appearance of finality. Had Adkins not acted, he would have had no lease. The fact that the agency action was by letter, rather than formal findings with an "order" does not prevent the decision from being final.

In Mid-Valley Distilling Corp. v. DeCarlo, 161 F 2d 485, 488 (3 Cir. 1947), a supervisor under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act had sent a letter to the distilling company, telling it that an attempted transfer of permits had resulted in the automatic termination of the permits. The company sought judicial review, and the supervisor argued that the letter merely informed the company of the automatic termination and was not an order. The Court of Appeals held that if the permits did not automatically terminate, the letter was an order, and was appealable.

As pointed out in 2 Am. Jur. 2d, Administrative Law, § 585:

Whether or not a particular administrative determination is an "order" or is final is determined by the substance of what the agency has purported to do and has done, and not by the label placed upon it. The mere informality of a decision does not prevent its review if it is otherwise final. Thus, a letter may constitute an appealable order or determination. * * *

It is necessary to consider 65-1-9(2) along with 65-1-1 and 65-1-2.1. Those subsequently enacted sections did away with the State Land Board and distributed its functions to a Division of State Lands and a Board of State Lands within the Department of Natural Resources.

65-1-1. Board of state lands -- Creation -- Transfer of powers and duties. -- There is created within the department of natural resources a board of state lands which, except as otherwise

provided in this act, shall assume all of the policy-making functions, powers, duties, rights, and responsibilities of the state land board, together with all functions, powers, duties, rights, and responsibilities granted to the board of state lands by this act. The board of state lands shall be the policy-making body of the division of state lands. Except as otherwise provided in this act, whenever reference is made in title 65, or in any other provision of law, to the state land board, it shall be construed as referring to the board of state lands where such reference pertains to policy-making functions, powers, duties, rights and responsibilities; but in all other instances such reference shall be construed as referring to the division of state lands.

65-1-2.1. Division of state lands -- Creation -- Power and authority. -- There is created the division of state lands, which shall be within the department of natural resources under the administration and general supervision of the executive director of natural resources and under the policy direction of the board of state lands. The division of state lands shall be the state land authority for the State of Utah, shall assume all of the functions, powers, duties, rights and responsibilities of the state land board except those which are delegated to the board of state lands by this act and is vested with such other functions, powers, duties, rights and responsibilities as provided in this act and other law.

Within the Department of Natural Resources as reorganized, the Director of Natural Resources had a right to make final decisions with respect to matters other than those determining policy for the Division of State Lands. The actions taken in deleting property from Adkins' leases and in cancelling the lease were final decisions by the Director (R. 68, 71), the letters written by Adkins in response to those decisions were protests, and the Division treated them as protests.

It is arguable that the Board of State Lands should not have been involved at all, because the actions did not involve policy-making, but the Board of State Lands purported to act upon them by way of appeal and hearing, voting unanimously to uphold the actions of the Director.

Under the holding of the district court, a person involved with the Division of State Lands would be required to file a protest with the Division,

obtain a ruling from the Board of State Lands, and protest the Board's decision. From a standpoint of administrative procedure or due process this does not make sense. Adkins' position was called to the attention of the highest powers in the Department of Natural Resources and those powers determined that the action taken by the director should be upheld. What possibly could be accomplished by a second appeal to the Board of State Lands or to the Director of Natural Resources?

II

THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT DID NOT REQUIRE PLAINTIFF TO SERVE NOTICE OF HIS CLAIM, TO FILE A CLAIM AGAINST THE STATE, OR TO POST AN UNDERTAKING FOR COSTS IN ORDER TO HAVE HIS RIGHTS DETERMINED IN THIS DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION.

The trial court held that Adkins could not maintain the action because he had not complied with certain provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act, treating the action as one against the state. In doing so, the court overlooked the fact that the lawsuit is really aimed at obtaining judicial review of administrative action.

Declaratory judgment actions have long been recognized as suitable for that purpose. See 22 Am.Jur.2d, Declaratory Judgments, § 31; and 26 C.J.S., Declaratory Judgments, § 68. Such an action, premised on the claim that an administrative agency has acted outside its authority or jurisdiction, is not an action against the state. Wisconsin Fertilizer Assoc. v. Karns, 39 Wis.2d 95, 158 NW2d 294, 297 (1968).

Even if the action is against the state, the requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act do not apply, recent decisions of this court

having recognized that the Governmental Immunity Act applies only to governmental functions. In Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 605 P.2d 1230, 1236 (Utah 1980), this court redefined governmental function, saying:

We therefore hold that the test for determining governmental immunity is whether the activity under consideration is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency or that it is essential to the core of governmental activity. Clearly, this new standard broadens governmental liability. However, the position is consistent with the plain legislative intent in § 65-30-1 et seq., to expand governmental liability.

In Standiford, the court held that operation of a public golf course was not a governmental function, and the rule announced in Standiford has been applied consistently since it was handed down in 1980. In Johnson v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 629 P.2d 432 (Utah 1981), the court held that operation of a sledding course by Salt Lake City was not a governmental function; and in Thomas v. Clearfield City, 642 P.2d 737 (Utah 1982), the court held that operation of a sewer system was not a governmental function.

Although the lands involved in this case happen to be state lands, the sale of land and the leasing of land for oil and gas purposes, or for other purposes, is not a function that is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency, or one that is essential to the core of governmental activity. Ownership of the land is not the criterion. In Standiford, Johnson, and Thomas the properties involved were all owned by the particular municipality.

Even assuming that the leasing of land for oil and gas development is a governmental function for the purposes of the Governmental Immunity Act, Adkins was not required to comply with the notice provision, claim provision,

or cost bond provisions of the act. It is provided in 63-30-5 Utah Code Annotated 1953:

Immunity from suit of all government entities is waived as to any contractual obligation and actions arising out of contractual rights or obligations shall not be subject to the requirements of sections 63-30-11, 63-30-12, 63-30-13 or 63-30-19 of this act.

Notice of a claim for injury to person or property is required by 63-30-11, but that is not what this suit is about; 63-30-12 requires the filing of a claim within one year after the cause of action arises; 63-30-13 requires the filing of such a claim with political subdivisions; and 63-30-19 requires the filing of an undertaking conditioned upon payment by plaintiff of taxable costs. None of these provisions governs this case because what plaintiff is litigating is essentially a contractual obligation.

The cases generally recognize that although in a lease there are some aspects of conveyance of an estate, a lease is also a contract, and the obligations as between the lessor and the lessee are contractual. See Medical-Dental Building Co. of Los Angeles v. Horton and Converse, 21 Cal.2d 411, 132 P.2d 457, 462 (1942).

The New World Dictionary of the American Language (1979) defines "lease" as follows:

A contract by which one party (landlord, or lessor) gives to another (tenant, or lessee) the use and possession of lands, buildings, property, etc., for a specified time and for fixed payments.

See also 9 Words and Phrases (Perm. Ed.) pp. 427-428.

The trial court apparently regarded this proceeding as being governed by 63-30-6 Utah Code Annotated 1953, which does not eliminate the notice claim, and bond requirements:

Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for the recovery of any property real or personal or for the possession thereof or to quiet title thereto, or to foreclose mortgages or other liens thereon or to determine any adverse claim thereon, or secure any adjudication touching any mortgage or other lien said entity may have or claim on the property involved.

A state lease is not like the kinds of claims that are described in 63-30-6 which for the most part, are those arising out of rights not dependent upon state action. Here we are considering a written agreement, formally executed by the state, and the right of the state to repudiate the agreement.

III

THE STATE LAND BOARD'S ATTEMPTED WITHDRAWAL FROM OIL AND GAS LEASING OF LANDS IN SECTION 2 WAS INVALID BECAUSE IT WAS OUTSIDE THE POWERS OF THE BOARD.

In 1961, in order to aid the preservation and development of potash deposits, the Utah State Legislature, by statute, withdrew certain state lands from oil and gas leasing.

The lands withdrawn included Section 2, Lots 1, 2, 7, 8, and the south half of the northeast quarter of Township 27 south, Range 20 east, Salt Lake Base and Meridian. Chapter 155, § 1, Laws of Utah 1961; 65-1-99 Utah Code Annotated 1953. In 1963 additional lands were withdrawn by legislative enactment. Chapter 165, § 1, Laws of Utah 1963; 65-1-104 Utah Code Annotated 1953. Neither of these statutes withdrew the property in Section 2 that was included in the Adkins lease, but on June 14, 1966, the State Land Board purported to withdraw that property from oil and gas leasing. The minutes of a meeting of the State Land Board of June 14, 1966, contained the following notes:

The Staff recommended that the balance of Sec. 2, Lots 3, 4, 5, 6, S $\frac{1}{2}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, S $\frac{1}{2}$ [Township 27 south, Range 20 east, Salt Lake Base and Meridian] be withdrawn from oil and gas leasing by the State Land Board.

After discussion and consideration, the Board unanimously passed the following motion made by Mr Hatch, seconded by Mr. Henderson:

I move we concur with the Staff's recommendation.

As of June 14, 1966, there was no statutory provision authorizing the state land board to withdraw lands from oil and gas leasing. Instead, the statutes instructed the state land board to issue mineral leases. The following provisions are pertinent:

65-1-18. The state land board may issue mineral leases for exploring, developing and producing oil and gas or for prospecting and mining purposes, upon any portion of the lands or mineral interests of the state.

65-1-24. The board shall cause all public lands now owned by the state, or lands to title to which may hereafter be vested in the state, to be classified and registered and thereafter sold or leased. * * *

It was not until 1967 that the legislature conferred upon the State Land Board the power to withdraw lands from oil and gas leasing. At the time of the attempted 1966 withdrawal, the first paragraph of 65-1-45 Utah Code Annotated 1953 read as follows:

Except as otherwise provided by law, applications to lease shall be considered in the order filed; provided, that when simultaneous applications are filed the land board shall let the land to the applicant who will pay the highest rental therefor; and provided further, that applications to lease land already under lease shall not be received before the date following the expiration of said lease, and all such applications received on such day shall be considered simultaneous.

By Chapter 183, § 4, Laws of Utah 1967, the foregoing paragraph of 65-1-45 was amended to read as follows:

Except as otherwise provided herein applications to lease state lands for mineral purposes shall be considered in the order in which they are filed. The division of state lands shall have the authority to withdraw state lands from leasing, but unless state lands are withdrawn and except as otherwise provided herein, the division shall lease the land to the first qualified applicant who has filed an application in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by the board of state lands.

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