1983

Robert W. Adkins v. The Division of State Lands of The State of Utah : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE JURISDICTIONAL REQUIREMENTS OF §65-1-9(2) U.C.A. (1953), AS AMENDED, AND IS, THEREFORE, BARRED FROM MAINTAINING THIS ACTION.

The trial court held that Appellant failed to comply with the jurisdictional requirements for judicial review as provided in §65-1-9(2) U.C.A. (1953), as amended. Section 65-1-9(2) provides:

No claimant for lands under control of the board can appeal for judicial review of a decision of the board involving any sale, lease, or disposition of state lands, or any action relating thereto, unless such claimant files a written protest with respect thereto with the board within ninety days after the final decision of the board relating to such matter; or, with respect to decisions rendered prior to the effective date of this act, within ninety days after such effective date. This provision shall not relate to disputes between the board and any party as to the ownership or title to any lands. [Emphasis added.]

The language of this statute could hardly be more clear. In order for Appellant to appeal for judicial review of the decisions of the State Land Board, he had to file a written protest with respect to the decisions within ninety days. In this case there were two final decisions of the State Land Board: one pertaining to the 509.18 acre tract and one pertaining to the 80 acre tract. The facts of this case show clearly that Appellant failed to file a

written protest timely with respect to either of these decisions.

With regard to the 509.18 acre tract, upon discovering the tract was subject to a withdrawal order and, therefore, not available for oil and gas leasing, the Division of State Lands and Forestry, by letter dated March 25, 1981, notified Appellant the 509.18 acre tract would have to be deleted from the mineral lease. Appellant requested State Land Board review of this Division action but at the hearing on this appeal on August 12, 1981, the Board unanimously decided the 509.18 acre tract should be deleted from the lease and Appellant's advance rental payment for that tract should be refunded to him. This Board action was the only Board action taken regarding the 509.18 acre tract, and it was clearly a final decision of the Board. Pursuant to §65-1-9(2), Appellant had ninety days to file a written protest to this final decision; however, the facts demonstrate that the only communication from Appellant which could be construed as a written protest of the Board's decision was his February 13, 1982, letter, which came a full 185 days after the Board's August 12, 1981, decision.

With regard to the 80 acre tract, upon discovering that the 80 acre tract was also subject to a withdrawal

and, therefore, not available for oil and gas leasing, an employee of the Division of State Lands and Forestry, by letter dated August 12, 1981, notified Appellant of the error and of his intention to recommend to the Director that the remaining 80 acres of the lease be cancelled and all of the balance of the payments previously tendered by Appellant be refunded to him. On August 17, 1981, the Director cancelled the lease. Evidently this action was not communicated to Appellant because on October 29, 1981, he wrote to the Division asking if the Director had cancelled the 80 acre tract. Also in that letter, Appellant requested, pursuant to Section 65-1-9, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, and the Rules and Regulations of the Division of State Lands, a "hearing before the land board regarding the purported deletion of the 80 acres from my lease." (R. 25) This letter made no mention of the Board's action regarding the 509.18 acre tract. At the Board's November 10, 1981, hearing, the Board unanimously upheld the cancellation of Appellant's lease. As with the 509.18 acre tract, the only written communication which could be construed as a written protest to this final decision of the Board was Appellant's February 13, 1982, letter, which, even if it were to be assumed that the letter was "filed" with the Board on the same day it was written, came 96 days after the November 10,

1981, final decision of the State Land Board.

Notwithstanding the plain meaning of §65-1-9(2), Appellant argues §65-1-9(2) should be read in conjunction with §§65-1-1 and 2.1, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, to the conclusion that in this case the State Land Board should never have even been involved to review the Division's action.

Appellant's argument goes something like this: as originally organized the State Land Board was the only state agency involved in state lands management, and it handled the day-to-day management as well as the policy-making responsibilities with respect thereto. Then in 1967 when the §§65-1-1 and 2.1 were enacted, the Legislature created a division of state lands to handle the day-to-day operations and the board of state lands to be responsible for all policy-making functions, powers, duties, rights and responsibilities. Rather than legislatively decide which provisions of Title 65 involve policy-making functions and which do not, the Legislature stated in §65-1-1:

[e]xcept as otherwise provided in this act, whenever reference is made in Title 65, or in any other provision of law, to the state land board it shall be construed as referring to the board of state lands where such reference pertains to policy-making

functions, powers, duties, rights and responsibilities; but in all other instances such reference shall be construed as referring to the division of state lands.

Thus, the Legislature left it to the Board of State Lands to decide what functions involve policy-making and what do not.

Appellant's argument continues, because §65-1-9(2) consistently refers to "the board," and a decision of "the board," in light of §§65-1-1 and 2.1 every time the words "the board" appear the words "the division" must be substituted instead, to the conclusion there really is no appeal of a Division action to the Board, the Board is a non-entity so far as review of Division action is concerned, and it is only the Division that acts and then reviews itself. Thus, Appellant's protest of the Division action to cancel his lease interests is the only protest that is required by §65-1-9(2). Respondent submits this interpretation of these statutory provisions is not only strained and irrational, it is unsupported by law, unworkable on a day-to-day basis, and contrary to Appellant's own view of the relative roles as evidenced by his actions in this

case.*

First, Appellant's argument requires this Court to ignore the very plain language of §65-1-9(2) that it is the Board that is to make final decisions for lands under its control and timely written protest must be given thereto before a claimant can appeal for judicial review.

Second, assuming Appellant is contending that it is the Division that takes an action such as the one in this case and it is the Division Director who reviews that action,

* Appellant states on pp. 7 and 8 of his brief that §§65-1-1 and 2.1 provide that it is the Executive Director of the Department of Natural Resources who actually makes final decisions with respect to matters other than those determining policy for the Division of State Lands. Although Respondent is somewhat unclear as to whether Appellant is really suggesting the Executive Director of the Department of Natural Resources has the role of reviewing day-to-day land management decisions, such interpretation is wholly unsupported by the enabling legislation pertaining to the Executive Director of the Department of Natural Resources. §63-34-1 et seq., U.C.A. (1953), as amended, which provides for the Department of Natural Resources which coordinates ten different state boards and seven different state agencies; and these statutes make abundantly clear the Executive Director's essential role is "the administration and supervision of the department of natural resources" to effect "coordination and co-operation among the boards and divisions of it...." Section 63-34-5 U.C.A. (1983 Interim Supplement, Part 2, pp. 888 and 889). Although the statute requires the Executive Director to do "such other duties as the Legislature shall assign to him," it is preposterous to suggest the Executive Director has been legislatively assigned the specific additional duty to review all of the hundreds of lease actions the Division may take throughout any given year.

such a contention ignores the statutory scheme of Title 65, which makes the Division and the Director one and the same. Pursuant to §65-1-3.1, the Director of the Division is the executive and administrative head of the Division. Moreover, what Appellant is asserting is that a Division staff employee could make an official Division decision which could be protested and appealed to the Division Director. Title 65 does not provide for such an intra-agency review process. Thus, what Appellant is asserting is that it is the Division Director who would make a final decision on a Division cancellation of a state oil and gas lease, and this is nothing more than to say there is no administrative review at all of such an action.

Third, if the plain language of §65-1-9(2) were to be ignored, and the Court were to consider whether the cancellation involves a policy-making function such that it was appropriate for the Board to review the Division cancellation of Appellant's lease pursuant to §65-1-9(2), it seems reasonable to assume that virtually every action by the Division to cancel a lease necessarily involves some policy-making function, power, duty, right or responsibility. Certainly that is how the Board has interpreted its responsibilities because it is the Board and not the Division that reviews such matters in every

case.

Fourth, because the Board has itself determined the hearing of all appeals of Division lease actions to be a legitimate exercise of its responsibilities, as this Court held in Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 17 Utah 2d 14, 19, 403 P.2d 781, 784 (1965), this determination must be treated as prima facie correct and not regarded otherwise so long as the function conforms with the general objections the agency is charged to carry out and there is a rational basis for it in the provisions of the law.

Fifth, even if it were somehow to be concluded that Board review of Division lease actions was not in every case appealable to the Board, but for only those matters which involve a policy consideration, certainly under the facts of this case review of the cancellation of Appellant's lease involves a policy consideration. In this matter the Board had previously withdrawn two tracts from oil and gas leasing and there could hardly be a clearer example of a land management policy decision than a decision to withdraw lands from leasing. It only stands to reason that consideration of whether a lease for those withdrawn should be permitted in direct contradiction to those withdrawals is, therefore, also a policy decision.

Sixth, Appellant's argument that the Director's actions

terminating the lease should be the "final decisions" as contemplated in §65-1-9(2) is unworkable on a day to day level. Instead of having an orderly process of Division action and Board review of that action, a claimant for lands administered by the Division and the Board would have to guess to whom he should request review and hope he guesses correctly.

Finally, the Appellant's argument is utterly inconsistent with his own view of the relative roles of the Division and the Board, as evidenced by his own actions in this case. In both instances when the Division notified him of its intent to terminate the respective tracts of land Appellant requested review by the Board of that Division action. Indeed, Mr. Adkins' letter dated October 29, 1981, pertaining to the deletion of the 80 acre tract states: "[p]ursuant to Section 65-1-9, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, and the Rules and Regulations of the Division of State Lands, I hereby request a hearing before the land board regarding the purported deletion of the 80 acres from my lease." (R. 25)

As a final note, the Appellant complains that the plain reading of §65-1-9(2) requires a claimant upset with a Division action to request a hearing before the Board, obtain a ruling from the Board and then, if still unhappy

with the Board ruling, file a timely written protest with the Board in order to appeal for judicial review. He says this does not make sense because this procedure would only accomplish "a second appeal to the Board of State Lands or to the Director of Natural Resources." However, this is simply a misstatement of the ordinary process for review and of what happened in this case. The procedure that was followed in this case was (1) an action by the Division, (2) a request by the claimant for Board review of that action, (3) Board review of that action. Where the process broke down for the Appellant was his failure to comply with §65-1-9(2), as he was obliged to do. It is not for Appellant to second guess the wisdom of §65-1-9(2) but it certainly is his obligation to comply with it. And in view of the fact the plain wording of that provision requires a claimant to comply and in this case he simply did not, he has waived his right to obtain judicial review of his claims.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE JURISDICTIONAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT, SECTION §63-30-1 ET SEQ., (1953), AS AMENDED.

The trial court held also that Appellant failed to comply with the relevant and applicable requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, 63-30-1 et seq., U.C.A. (1953), as amended, which pertain to actions involving

property and which must be satisfied for there to be a waiver of governmental immunity.

At the outset of Point II it is important to state what Respondent is not contending. Respondent is not contending that this is the sort of action for the State is immune from suit under the Governmental Immunity Act. To the contrary, Respondent has consistently asserted that this is an action involving property, for which, pursuant to §63-30-6 U.C.A. (1953), as amended, immunity has been waived so long as the other requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act have been met. With this in mind, Respondent submits the trial court correctly held that Appellant failed to comply with relevant and applicable requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act, and, therefore, cannot now maintain this action.

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act is an act which provides exceptions, limitations and conditions on the immunity which is generally accorded to governmental entities, including the Respondent in this action. Section 63-3-3 U.C.A (1981 Supp.) provides:

Except as may be otherwise provided in this act, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function, governmentally-owned hospital, nursing home, or other governmental health care facility, and from an approved medical, nursing, or other professional health care clinical training program conducted in either public or private

facilities.

The Act specifically waives certain kinds of actions from immunity, including actions such as the one before the Court involving property, Section 63-30-6 U.C.A. (1953), as amended. Section 63-30-6 provides:

Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for the recovery of any property real or personal or for the possession thereof or to quiet title thereto, or to foreclose mortgages or other liens thereon or to determine any adverse claim thereon, or secure any adjudication touching any mortgage or other lien said entity may have or claim on the property involved.

For those actions in which immunity has been waived (except actions involving contractual obligations) the Act provides several requirements to be met by claimants in order for them to be able to bring actions against governmental entities. The requirements of the Act which are relevant to the case at bench include Section 63-30-12 U.C.A. (1981 Supp.) which requires a notice of claim to be filed with the Attorney General and the Agency concerned within one year after the cause of action arises. Section 63-30-12 provides:

A claim against the state is barred unless notice of claim is filed with the attorney general and the agency concerned within one year after the cause of action arises.

Section 63-30-15 provides that a suit against the State may be filed only if and after such claim is denied. In this

case Appellant did not file a notice of claim with either the Attorney General or the Division of State Lands and Forestry.

Appellant also failed to file an undertaking pursuant to Section 63-30-19 U.C.A. (1953), as amended, which provides as follows:

At the time of filing the action the plaintiff shall file an undertaking in a sum fixed by the court, but in no case less than the sum of \$300, conditioned upon payment by the plaintiff of taxable costs incurred by the governmental entity in the action if the plaintiff fails to prosecute the action or fails to recover judgment.

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